MINUTES OF BOARD OF COUNTY COMMISSIONERS MILLARD COUNTY THE 19th Day of SEPTEMBER 2005 AT THE COURTHOUSE, FILLMORE, UTAH

PRESENT:	John C. Cooper	Chairman
	Daron P. Smith	Commissioner
	Kathy Y. Walker	Commissioner
	LeRay Jackson	County Attornov
	·	•
	Norma Brunson	County Clerk
	Janice Robins	Deputy County Clerk

ALSO PRESENT: Don Quarnberg, Dean Draper, Knox Huntsman, Judy Huntsman, Rick Carter, Ed Phillips, John Kimball, Carol Kimball, Brent Berkley, Scott Corry, Mike and Joyce Barney

PURSUANT TO AN AGENDA WHICH HERETOFORE HAD BEEN PROVIDED TO each member of the governing body, the local news and located on the front and back doors of the County Courthouse as required by law the following proceedings were had.

PUBLIC WAS WELCOMED

The meeting began at 10:00 a.m. after a brief welcome by Commissioner Cooper to the public and Commission members.

OPENING STATEMENTS

Commissioner Cooper asked if anyone had an opening statement to give? Don Quarnberg recited an original poem entitled "Ode to Petticoat Lane" written in memory of the lane's demise. Commission Secretary Janice Robins said the invocation. Everyone stood and said the Pledge of Allegiance to the Flag.

FOLLOW UP ACTION ITEMS FROM MINUTES OF SEPTEMBER 12, 2005

There were none.

APPROVAL OF THE AMENDED MINUTES OF SEPTEMBER 12, 2005

Commissioner Smith made a motion to approve the amended minutes of September 12, 2005.

1

Commissioner Walker SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

AUDITORS REPORT

Auditor Brandy Grace was excused. Chief Deputy County Auditor Bonnie Gehre gave the Commissioners various invoices to review and approve for payment through the Auditor's Office.

Chief Deputy Auditor Gehre gave the Commissioners the Check Edit Report of September 16, 2005 to Commissioner Walker for all the Commissioners to review and sign.

Chief Deputy Auditor Gehre said the IRS has increased the cost of mileage reimbursement from 40.5 cents to 48.5 cents @ mile. Millard County has followed the IRS and State recommendations in the past.

Commissioner Walker made a motion to follow the IRS recommendation to set the mileage reimbursement at 48.5 cents @ mile. Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

Commissioner Smith reported that three road department employees had earned three hours of special pay spraying down the arena for a high school rodeo. They questioned who should absorb the cost for the special pay, the road department or the high school rodeo committee? The issue was discussed and more information will be gathered before a decision is made on this issue.

Commissioner Cooper said Virginia Josse at the Pahvant Senior Center had made a request for another exit put in the building because an inspection was done on the building which stated by law only sixty people can be in the building at one time. East Millard Maintenance did a cost estimate to add an exit on the south side of the building. The cost would be about \$2,972.00. If there is any electrical wiring in the wall by the window to be removed, then there could be additional costs. There is money in the maintenance budget to do the project. The Commissioners agreed to contact Gary Hone and start the project.

Commissioner Walker asked for a clarification of the invoice from Fillmore City for radios. Is the payment to come out of the County CERT money for \$2.00 per capita? That fact was affirmed.

DAN ROWLEY-FILLMORE CITY AIRPORT LAYOUT PLAN

Commissioner Walker reviewed the request by Fillmore City for money to help with the design plan. She reported that she had talked with Delta City Recorder Greg Shaffer about Delta City not asking or receiving any county help when they did the design work on the Delta City Airport.

Commissioner Smith and Commissioner Cooper said they had assumed Delta City had received county help in the renovation of the Delta City Airport. Fillmore City thinks that this is not just a city issues as the airport is also used by other entities like the Sheriff's Office, Forest Service, BLM, firefighters, National Guard, Life Flight and others.

Commissioner Walker made a motion to deny Fillmore City's request for money from the

County to help with the design plan for the Fillmore City Airport.

Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

ESGR AWARDS PRESENTATION- KNOX HUNTSMAN

Knox Huntsman and Dallin Nielson gave a brief explanation of what the ESGR Patriot award is all about. The program gives each soldier a chance to nominate his employer to receive the ESGR Patriot award and being a true patriot. Being a true patriot means working around the soldier's schedule for the military training necessary. The guard and reserve is like a three legged stool with the guardsman, the family and the employer. If any one of these legs is missing the stool falls. The support of all three legs is important to the success of the guard.

Rick Carter a guardsman and Millard County Deputy Sheriff nominated his employers. Millard County Sheriff Ed Phillips, head supervisor, Captain John Kimball, scheduling supervisor, and Sergeant Scott Corry, immediate supervisor, to each receive an ESGR Patriot Award. Mr. Carter said they have all come together to make the schedule work so he could perform his guard duties. Brief responses of gratitude were expressed by the recipients of the award.

The Commissioners expressed their appreciation of the Utah National Guard in the community.

JOYCE BARNEY-POSSIBLE SIGNING OF A PLAT MAP

Mike and Joyce Barney brought in Phase One Plat D of the Sunset View Estate PUD for the Commissioners to sign.

Commissioner Walker made a motion to sign Phase One Plat D for Sunset View Estates PUD. Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried. The plat map was signed.

POSSIBLE APPROVAL OF AMENDED MILLARD COUNTY FACILITIES USE AND RENTAL POLICY

Attorney LeRay Jackson read the following change made to the facilities Use and Rental Policy.

Other County Facilities: Group use only by written petition to the Millard County Board of Commissioners. Appropriate fees will be assessed upon approval in an official Commission meeting. Generally, the use by groups of other County facilities, such as the Sunset View Golf Course, will only be allowed by the County at no more than a 10% reduction of normal fees and only for a non-profit charitable cause where the group is a qualified charity having a 501© (3) exemption under the IRS code and is registered as such with the Utah State Consumer Affairs

exemption under the IRS code <u>and</u> is registered as such with the Utah State Consumer Affairs Division.

Commissioner Walker made a motion to approve the signing of the amended Millard County Facilities Use and Rental Policy.

Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

MILLARD COUNTY TREASURER JOHN HANSEN- POSSIBLE APPROVAL OF TAX ADJUSTMENTS YEAR TO DATE

Item was tabled.

REVIEW AND POSSIBLE DECISION ON JUSTIN NIELSON 'S OFFER TO PURCHASE THE OLD WEST MILLARD CARE CENTER

A discussion was held about the bid from Justin Nielson's to purchase the old Millard County Care Center. Commissioner Walker said the bid is extremely low however, Delta City has approved a conditional use permit for White River Academy. The zoning is all right and the conditional use permit states that they must meet federal, state and local requirements and they accept no court referrals. A public hearing has been held and an article in the newspaper has produced no negative comments opposing the sale. The building maintenance costs Millard County about \$9,000.00 a year. It has been almost two years since any interest has been shown in the building and it had been advertised for sale in the newspaper.

Sheriff Phillips commented that it was up to Delta City to decide if they want business and they have offered a conditional use permit.

The maximum capacity would be 62 and there are plans for 12 to begin with.

Millard County has no plans for the historic building and it would good to have someone in it.

Commissioner Walker made a motion to approve the \$50,000 purchase price from Justin Nielson to purchase the old Millard County Care Center. The sale will save Millard County money in the long run.

Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

County Attorney Jackson will follow up with Mr. Nielson on the offer.

POSSIBLE APPROVAL OF REQUEST FOR COMMISSION WAIVER OF FEES ON USE OF MILLARD COUNTY EXHIBIT BY SAM S. PRESTWICH

A request had been made by Sam S. Prestwich to use the Millard County Exhibit Building for the Field of Dreams, HOPE Ranch and Education Inc. benefit lecture on October 18, 2005. The proceeds from ticket sales will go to several Millard County youth with medical conditions.

A telephone call was made to Mr. Prestwich during the meeting to find more details about the request. Mr. Prestwich disclosed that his was a non-profit organization and all the proceeds from the lecture would go to local children. The speaker would be given a \$500.00 honorarium which they hope he will waive.

Commissioner Smith made a motion to approve waiving of fee of the exhibit building for the fund raiser lecture, the insurance and deposit fees will be required.

Commissioner Walker SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

A second request came in from Darlene Scott to waive the fees for use of the exhibit building to hold an "I Hope You Dance" Dance-a-Thon on October 8, 2005 from 5:00 p.m. until midnight. The event will be sponsored by the 4-H Teen Council. The proceeds will go to the

Huntsman Cancer Institute for cancer research.

Commissioner Walker said because it was for the 4-H and the Huntsman Cancer Institute she made a motion to waive only the rental fees, the insurance and deposit fees will still be required. Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

Commissioner Walker suggested the *Request for Commission Waiver* form be amended to include more information.

POSSIBLE ADOPTION OF MILLARD COUNTY RESOLUTION 05-09-12, A RESOLUTION CHANGING THE NUMBER OF MEMBERS FROM THREE MEMBERS TO FIVE MEMBERS FOR ADMINISTRATION CONTROL BOARD OF THE MILLARD COUNTY SPECIAL DISTRICT NO. 8, APPOINTING TWO ADDITIONAL MEMBERS, AND SETTING TERMS

This item was tabled until next week.

DISCUSSION AND DECISION ON TRAFFIC CITATIONS ISSUED TO MILLARD COUNTY EMPLOYEES DRIVING COUNTY OWNED VEHICLES

Attorney LeRay Jackson said that the subject of whether the employee or the employer was responsible for traffic citations issued to Millard County employees driving county owned vehicles had came up at the last Millard County Safety Committee meeting. The members were not able to agree on the issue and the votes were split evenly. They asked the Commissioners to help make a decision.

Commissioner Smith made a motion that Millard County employees should be responsible for citations they receive while driving county vehicles. If there is a safety issue with the equipment, then they shouldn't drive at that time. If there is an issue that is beyond their control and they are ticketed, they can appeal to the Commission.

Commissioner Walker SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

MILLARD COUNTY ASSESSOR JIM TALBOT-BOARD OF EQUALIZATION

Commissioner Smith made a motion to convene as the Board of Equalization. Commissioner Walker SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

Assessor Jim Talbot reported on some additional changes on property tax a re-evaluations. Assessor Talbot said he has talked to almost all of the people involved with changes made by the Assessor's Office.

The final list of changes will be printed and given to the Commissioners for review and final approval on September 26, 2005.

Commissioner Smith asked for a copy of the general information that is used to do appraisals and rent samples. Assessor Talbot said the State Tax Commission has some charts available that the Commissioners could use and he would get them a copy.

Commissioner Walker made a motion to go out of the Board of Equalization.

Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

DISCUSSIONS FROM EACH COMMISSIONER, COUNTY ATTORNEY, AND ELECTED OFFICIALS, AND SECRETARY

Commissioner Smith held a Comprehensive Land Use Plan meeting on Tuesday, September 13, 2005. Forest Service Ranger Bob Gardner presented an ATV travel plan with maps. They discussed that the county transportation plan needs to be updated and adopted in the Millard County General Plan. The process to amend the County's General Plan will be started and will be more specific to land uses. The work of the committee is winding down and they are trying to finalize all their plans and suggestions. Commissioner Smith expressed his appreciation to the all those who worked on the committee. Meetings will be scheduled on a need basis from now on.

Commissioner Smith visited with Millard County Farm Bureau leaders and ask them to write a letter in support of keeping Jim Stevens working in Millard County. The Farm Bureau agreed to write a letter.

Commissioner Smith reported the Millard County updated road milage classification has been completed and it will be submitted to UDOT. This is how the County receives it's B & C road money is formulated.

Commissioner Smith visited with some business owners in Delta about the taxing concerns and the process of tax evaluation. Most of them feel the evaluation is fairly close and there are a lot of unknowns and unfair situations in the taxing process.

Commissioner Walker met on September 8, 2005 with the Hinckley Deseret Cemetery Board. They are making plans to split up the cemetery district. No decision was made and the issue will be brought up again at the October meeting. An ad hoc Hinckley citizens' group was chosen to look at cemetery issues and find a proposal for their solutions.

Attorney Jackson said that if the cemetery district splits up then someone will win and some one will lose when it comes to allocation of the money.

Commissioner Walker reported that Deb Jackson had resigned from the Great Basin Heritage Area Board. Also, Miss Millard pageant director Sue Paxton has resigned. The Commissioners and Millard County Fair Director Connie Christensen decided to make the position a co-director position with Lynnette Madsen being the administration director and they are looking for a new pageant director.

Commissioner Walker reported that she was interviewed on KNAK radio on Thursday, September 15, 2005.

Commissioner Walker made a motion to sign the Amended Bailiff Service Contract Between the State of Utah, Administrative Office of the Courts and the County Sheriff of Millard County for a total of \$8,100.00. Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried. The contract was signed and will be mailed to the state by the Clerk's Office. A copy will be on file at that office.

Commissioner Cooper and Commissioner Walker attended the USDA Forest Service's dutch oven thank you dinner for the Millard County Sheriff's Inmate Crew and the Millard County Road Department.

On Friday, September 16, the Commissioners met with Treasurer John Hansen and Auditor Brandy Grace and discussed commercial property evaluations. There is some concern about the reevaluations and the big increases this year because of the Assessor's Office had not done reevaluations for fifteen years. The Commissioners are reviewing all the options.

On September 17, 2005 Commissioner Walker attended the Delta Car Show. There were 120 entries which is 16 less than last year. The show was a success.

Commissioner Cooper said the Commissioners have written a letter to USU Director Jack Payne protesting the termination of Jim Stevens' contract. Mr. Stevens is a part time Millard County employee and a part time USU employee. The Millard County Farm Bureau is also in support of keeping Mr. Stevens in Millard County.

Commissioner Cooper attended the Central Utah Public Health Board meeting in Richfield, Utah. Central Utah Public Health Department is the lowest paying health district in the State of Utah. The Commissioners will look at the current wage scale and employee benefits information gathered at the meeting and then determine what the best action would be for Millard County to take.

Commissioner Cooper reported he acted as the Horse Show Judge for the Bits and Boots Riding Club Show.

OTHER BUSINESS

Commissioner Walker reported that Millard County Economic Development is planning a business conference in January 14, 2006. He said there is an opportunity for them to apply for a Disadvantaged Rural Communities Grant from the State Economic Development. The maximum amount of the grant is \$75,000.00. Ed Myers said in order to qualify for the grant a letter of support will be needed by the Millard County Commissioners. The money from the grant will go towards setting up the business conference.

Commissioner Walker made a motion for Millard County to support the Disadvantaged Rural Communities Grant Application.

Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

Commissioner Smith made a motion for Millard County to send a letter to President Bush stating how important PILT funds are the our county. The Western Counties Alliance has provided a sample letter.

Commissioner Walker SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried. Commissioner Smith will write the letter.

Commissioner Walker asked who is responsible for the maintenance on the posse building in Delta, Utah? Sheriff Phillips had told the maintenance supervisor that it was a county owned facility and the Sheriff's program is run out of it. The question is who pays for the maintenance of the building? The Commissioners will research what has been going on in the past and then make a decision who's budget the maintenance should come out of.

The same questions and concerns affect the ME Bird Center in Delta, Utah. There are questions about who is to do the maintenance on these building? The wood floor and some of the windows need to be replaced. Sometimes outside people are asked to come in and do repairs. The Commissioners said it would be better if West Millard Maintenance could do all the maintenance in their budget.

Commissioner Walker reported that a letter had been sent to the Millard County Tourism Board by Dale Whipple. (See Exhibit A)

Commissioner Walker reported that Millard County Tourism Committee has amended the bylaws and they have been accepted. New members will be put on next week's agenda for possible approval.

Millard County Attorney LeRay Jackson reported he had received an offer from a company to do an appraisal of the old historical courthouse for \$200.00. The Commissioners authorized Attorney Jackson to go ahead and set up the appraisal.

Attorney Jackson said that thirty or forty years ago the West Millard Hospital took a piece of property from a big estate in Wyoming with a guarantee that they would pay money to the family for the rest of their lives. That money was put into an office building in Salt Lake City and they lost that building. The rest of the money was put in the stock market. When Attorney Jackson was elected to the office in 1991 there was about \$80,000 left. Millard County pays out \$36,000 a year to the family. Part of the assets the hospital owned was a 180 acre parcel of brush land property in Duchesne County. The property is appraised for \$200.00 an acre and Millard County has the property listed for \$36,000. Attorney Jackson said an offer has came in to purchase the land for \$30,000, however, there is speculation of oil in the area. The Commissioners agreed to hold on to the property a little longer and declined the offer.

Chief Deputy Brent Berkley reported that on Thursday, September 15, 2005 a meeting was held with Leon Smith and Reed Searle. The purpose of the meeting was to discuss the issues of the new Millard County Conditional Use Permit with IPP and the possibility of a new amortization schedule for Unit three. The impact issues were discussed. Attorney Berkley said that he suggested splitting the condition use permit into different phases ie: construction and inspection phases and the on going operations phase of Unit 3. Millard County will be working to include in the conditional use permit methods of assessment value and a settlement on the amortization schedule.

IPP will provide numbers and schedules of the project to the County soon and they will meet again to discuss any revision or additions to the conditional use permit draft.

PUBLIC INPUT

Dean Draper said that he is the Hinckley Town Planning and Zoning Chairman and recently attended a League of Cities and Town Convention in Salt Lake City, Utah. He reported on some things that were discussed in the meetings. Senate Bill 60 became law in 2005, and effects planning and zoning in cities and towns. He said that conditional use permits are tied to the land and will last into perpetuity as long as a new land owner maintains the stipulations. When ever there is a subdivision, a public hearing has to be held.

POSSIBLE CLOSED MEETING PURSUANT TO UTAH CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 52-4-4&5

There were none.

WHERE UPON THE MEETING ADJOURNED

Commissioner Walker made the motion to adjourn the meeting.

Commissioner Smith SECONDED. The voting was unanimous. The motion carried.

The meeting adjourned at 12:40.

Attest:	Approved:
	= = p p = v + v + v -

August 21, 2005

Roger Killpack Millard County Tourism Board For your information only.

Dear Roger and Tourism Board Members,

I have enjoyed working side by side with the tourism board for these many years. I regret the outcome of this last series of disagreements. As happens in most fights, the course seems to have had a life of its own, and the outcome is not what was expected. If I had it to do over again, I might just quietly slip away without causing a stir, and without causing contention. Life is just too short to get caught up in continual contentions and strife.

I sought to do a favor FOR the tourism board, as well as protect a publication that I am very proud of. But, either through poor handling of the situation on my part, or through misrepresentation by others of what has led up to this matter, I believe I have ended up causing <u>more</u> contention rather than solving it. I assure you that was not my intention. I believe the County Commission should have had a little more foresight about what was likely to happen if they put Commissioner Walker over tourism, due to past conflicts between the Chronicle and the Gazette. But that too is water under the bridge now.

Once I heard that at least one Tourism Board member is now angry enough with me to pull their ad out of *Discovering Millard County*, I knew that things had digressed to a point that it would be best for me to remove myself from the situation. You all have duties to perform, as does Commissioner Walker. Contention will do the board no good, and it will do the tourism industry no good. Since I can do most everything I have planned on doing without being involved with the Tourism Board, I believe that it is I that should quietly back away, and let the Tourism Board go about its business without any further contention caused by me.

I truly have tried to benefit the tourism industry in Millard County. I meant what I said at the last tourism board meeting that I attended, about Millard Publishing having done a great service for this county these many years by providing so many things at cost. What I failed to say at that meeting (the one that I stormed out of) was that I appreciate the great service that Millard County has done <u>for us</u> those many years as well. We were a good team. That is one of the biggest factors in why I chose to fight when I saw that team threatened.

Millard Publishing will still publish this year's Discovering Millard County that we have committed to doing. Since it may be the last one, I am polishing up a couple of maps opposition send it off to press. I assure you that we will have the new printed copies back before we run out of last year's edition. When the recent turmoil started, we redesigned our distribution plan for Discovering Millard County to conserve more copies, not sending out as many to outlying areas. So we still have plenty for local purposes. We

weren't sure until about two weeks ago whether we were supposed to be publishing a 48-page booklet again, or a newer condensed 32-page booklet as some were proposing. But the changes for this year's 48-page publication are well underway, and will be completed soon. In spite of the contention I have included many of the things discussed, such as two pages on "county facilities." I hope the Tourism Board is pleased with the changes. But if not, I guess it doesn't matter too much anyway at this point in time.

We will manage the distribution of the new 2006 edition in such a way that it will last through the end of 2006 and into the first months of 2007. I want to emphasize that there will be no shortage of *Discovering Millard County* copies locally through that time frame because of the distribution plan we will follow, and that all local stands and tourism events will have ample copies provided to them as they request them. We will continue to store them, and distribute them at no cost to the county. At the end of 2006, we will take a look and see where things stand at that time and make a decision at that time whether to produce any future editions of *Discovering Millard County*. We still reserve our right to do so.

In addition, as previously decided upon, we will (on our own) do the following projects without any obligation to, or participation with, the Tourism Board. Any new projects that involve advertising, I will have one of our sales staff contact a Tourism Board member, who can then present it to the Board for their review and decision whether they want to advertise or not. Any projects that involve ads already ordered will be filled as ordered. Our projects are:

- A series of three maps (1. County Road Map; 2. ATV Trails Map; 3. Rockhounding Map). All are to be printed this fall.
- Rockhounding book, to replace old book, with many color photos, etc., goal is to be out in time for Christmas.
- Post Card production, to begin printing within days on new equipment just installed at Main Street Gallery
- T-shirt production, to begin printing within days on new equipment just installed at Main Street Gallery.
- Many other new souvenir-type items, to begin producing within days on new equipment just installed at Main Street Gallery.
- Our mural will be painted on the outside wall of Main Street Gallery sometime
 this fall, unless bad weather holds it off until Spring. We now have enough new
 equipment to continue the painting of murals on other walls in the area if called
 for.
- Redesign and improvements of www.discoveringmillardcounty.com online this winter. Perhaps we will work on www.millardcounty.com as well, if requested to do so by the county, and the situation merits doing so.
- We will begin production of the Tourism Stands sometime this fall as well. On
 those stands we will be distributing brochures, copies of *Discovering Millard*County, maps, post cards, and other tourism-related items. The county is welcome
 to have us distribute county brochures on those stands for the same price as any

091905MCC: Ather of our customers will be asked to pay. We still plan to distribute brochures at Main Street Gallery as well. Right now that service is still free. We intend to

- create a wide line of brochures involving the private sector if the private sector will pay for them by advertising within them, etc.
- We intend to start the first of four dinner theater productions this coming summer, with the rest of the series of four planned to begin the following year.
- I relinquish to the Tourism Board any control or rights to ideas that I presented about the Great Basin Festival. If there is any merit in those ideas, feel free to do what you wish with them.
- If you want me to bid on brochures for the county facilities, or other county-controlled brochures, just send me a bid request in the mail. I won't be offended if you give all those jobs to the Chronicle if you feel that will be best to get past this contention. I don't want to be involved in anything with the tourism board ever again that isn't fun, pleasant, and rewarding. It isn't that I will be losing any business by not printing those brochures anyway, as I would have bid them at cost as I have been doing for the past 20 years. So if the Chronicle will now step up to the plate and do their share of helping the county out by printing brochures at cost, that will actually take a pressure off of me. The real goal should be to get the brochures printed. It probably doesn't matter very much who does them, if they are being printed at cost.
- With that in mind, I would remind the Tourism Board that this county needs more signs up... everywhere! Please use your leverage to pressure the county to keep repairing old signs, and installing new signs. It won't do any good to bring lots of people to Millard County if they all get lost when they get here.

Those are my plans, and my regrets. Again, I thought I was helping. I will miss the relationship that I have had with the past Tourism Boards. We accomplished a great deal. And I am sure this board will do likewise. I hope that I have helped this Board to see that they have a duty to the private sector to not give away all their power to the County Commission. There needs to be a balance of power there for the Board concept to work. Don't worry, I'm done preaching. Come down and visit us at Main Street Gallery when you get a chance. Van's Hall prospects are still looking good. There are lots of fun things on the horizon for tourism in Millard County.

12

Cordially,

Dale Whipple,

Publisher of Discovering Millard County